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A Community of Convenience

Th e Saponi Nation, Governor Spotswood, and 

the Experiment at Fort Christanna, 1670– 1740

Stephanie Gamble

Fort Christanna, built in 1714, was the product of the overlaps in and 

tensions between Virginia’s colonial policies and piedmont Indians’ 

goals. In the decades leading up to the creation of Fort Christanna, the 

various groups that became the Saponi peoples migrated throughout 

the piedmont and merged with other peoples in a continual eff ort to se-

cure themselves from a variety of Native enemies. Th ough historians ac-

knowledge the mobility of piedmont Natives, this article contributes to 

an enhanced understanding of the migrations and mergers of Virginia’s 

Siouan speakers by addressing the factors that drove these Natives from 

their existing towns and induced them to inhabit new locations and to 

adopt new living arrangements. In particular, this article illuminates the 

ways in which the Saponis, Occaneechees, and Tutelos who came to in-

habit Fort Christanna negotiated a rapidly changing political landscape.1

By the beginning of the eighteenth century, the Saponis, Occa-

neechees, Tutelos, and Stuckanox had ventured a combination of mi-

grations and mergers in a vain attempt to fi nd security. Th ey sought 

new alternatives. At the same time, Governor Spotswood developed his 

plan for Fort Christanna, devised to fulfi ll colonial interests for defense, 

trade, and Christianizing the Natives. Th e Saponis acceded to the plan, 

and for four years Christanna served the interests of both parties, albeit 

asymmetrically.

Relations between Virginians and piedmont Natives revolved large-

ly around trade and security. For Virginians, Native trading partners 

could be called upon as allies in times of need, especially when those 

trading partners were tributaries, that is, offi  cially tied to the colony as 

subject peoples.2 Virginia’s forts, although colony- run during periods of 
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war, were usually in private hands during peacetime, when they dou-

bled as trading posts. Th roughout Virginia’s history, trade with Indians 

occurred primarily, or at times exclusively, at forts, which became loca-

tions not only for defense, but also for commercial and more general 

interactions between Natives and colonists. Th e Saponi peoples learned 

how to interact with colonists, oft en through trade, in their search for 

reliable allies. Th eir migrations owed much to their search for a haven 

safe from raids and attacks by northern Iroquois, southern slavers, and 

disruptive neighbors. Closely linked to this imperative was access to Eu-

ropean goods— particularly guns, powder, and ammunition.

Th is article demonstrates how these interests combined to create Fort 

Christanna by tracing their evolution, beginning around 1670, when in-

teractions between Virginians and piedmont- dwelling Natives intensi-

fi ed. Th e community forged at Christanna reveals a brief period of cul-

tural cooperation between colonists and Natives. As Virginian policies 

changed and Indians’ goals no longer coincided with those of the col-

ony, however, the opportunity that created Christanna passed, and the 

community of convenience dissolved.

Although the colonists’ policies and Natives’ goals aligned briefl y, 

they were not identical. Th e parties did not value defense, trade, and in-

tercultural engagement equally or for the same ends; neither party was 

unifi ed. Christanna was a precarious location for piedmont Indians and 

Virginians to handle changing and divided interests. However, instead 

of viewing the demise of Fort Christanna as inevitable, it is illuminat-

ing to address the way colonial and Native leaders worked to establish 

a functioning relationship and how they responded when that relation-

ship failed.

In recent years a rich literature in the ethno- historical tradition has 

developed around the concept of the Mississippian Shatter Zone. Th e 

Mississippian Shatter Zone encompassed the entire Eastern Woodlands 

from about 1620– 1720, and was the result of the introduction of Europe-

an market practices to the region, particularly the slave and fur trades. 

According to Robbie Ethridge, “an initial result was the generation of a 

handful of militaristic Indian slaving societies that held control of the 

trade, and that, through their slave raiding, caused widespread dislo-

cation, migration, amalgamation, and in some cases, extinction of Na-

tive peoples.”3 Th ese militaristic Indian slaving societies dominated for a 

century. Although the Mississippian Shatter Zone, as articulated by Eth-



native south volume 6 201372

ridge, aff ected the entire Eastern Woodlands, works regarding the Mis-

sissippian Shatter Zone have primarily focused on the former Mississip-

pian world.

Nevertheless, the actions of militaristic slaving societies reached well 

beyond the former Mississippian world. Militaristic societies devel-

oped outside the south, most obviously among the Iroquois, and it was 

these northern raiders who primarily harassed the Siouans of the Vir-

ginia piedmont. Following the call for scholars to continue to identify 

the “full sweep of internal and external forces at work” and the “reorga-

nization of Native societies that followed,” and to connect “the reorga-

nization to widespread colonial disturbances,” this article addresses the 

heretofore peripheral nations of what became the Virginia piedmont.4 

Th rough a focus on the various nations who combined under the name 

Saponi, this article explores how the Mississippian Shatter Zone can be 

used to better understand the action of Native peoples who were not 

part of the Mississippian world prior to European contact nor central 

to the militarization of Native societies, but were nevertheless deeply af-

fected by the militarization of distant societies and the development of 

colonial- Indian trade.

In the decades between Bacon’s Rebellion and the Tuscarora War, Si-

ouans and colonists in Virginia both sought advantages in colonial- 

Indian trade and faced various issues of physical security that cul-

minated in the creation of Fort Christanna at the hands of Governor 

Spotswood in 1714. At the time of European contact, the Virginia pied-

mont, a hilly and fertile region crossed by many rivers, was home pri-

marily to Siouan language speakers— Tutelos, Saponis, Occaneechees, 

Nahyssans, and Stuckanox, among others.5 Th e Siouans of the piedmont 

region, which extended from Virginia south into the Carolinas, shared 

what James Merrell characterizes as a “fundamental unity.” Although 

language diff ered from town to town, all spoke a form of Siouan. Pied-

mont Indians also generally practiced the same seasonal patterns of 

subsistence, “farming the rich alluvial soils in the bottomlands, fi shing 

the nearby waterways, hunting in the hills or canebrakes, and gathering 

wild plants at selected spots.”6 Movement comprised a central feature 

of their life, whether locally for seasonal subsistence, or farther afi eld 

to elude persistent enemies. Siouans preferred to build their towns 

on riverine terraces enclosed by wooden palisades. Most piedmont 



Gamble: Saponi Nation at Fort Christanna 73

Siouan polities “tended to be small, homogeneous, and egalitarian,” 

consisting of only one township. Th e small size of Siouan groups made 

defense a problem— increasingly so aft er the introduction of European 

diseases— and contributed to frequent cycles of integration and frag-

mentation. Yet while Siouans typically sought out other Siouans, Vir-

ginia piedmont Indians were distinct from their neighbors in Carolina, 

where Mississippian- infl uenced styles of pottery, agriculture, and other 

aspects of culture had infi ltrated from farther south. Siouans further ac-

knowledged their shared affi  nity by defi ning themselves in opposition 

to others. Warfare was a part of piedmont life, and Siouans targeted only 

piedmont Iroquoian-  or Algonquian- speaking groups as their enemies.7

Th eir closest neighbors were Iroquoian- speaking peoples, most nota-

bly the Tuscaroras, Meherrins, and Nottoways. Th e Meherrins and Not-

toways lived at the fall line of the rivers bearing their names and ranged 

into both the piedmont and coastal plain. Th ey were largely sedentary, 

rarely engaging in corporate moves over long distances, and avoiding 

mergers with other groups.8 Th e Tuscaroras, the most formidable and 

populous nation in the immediate vicinity of the Saponis, lived within 

the colonial bounds of North Carolina, but maintained close ties with 

the Meherrin and Nottoway settlements.9 Like the Meherrins and Not-

toways, the Tuscaroras generally lived in permanent villages along the 

fall line. Although their population was declining, they numbered about 

fi ve thousand in 1700, signifi cantly larger than any of the Siouan groups 

of the piedmont.10

Siouans responded to the small size of their populations and the 

proximity of formidable adversaries by moving at regular intervals and 

merging with neighbors in order to bolster security.11 In the fi rst de-

cade of the seventeenth century, the Nahyssans and Saponis inhabited 

the area served by the headwaters of the James River. By mid- century 

the Saponis had moved to the Staunton River, and lived in two towns, 

Sapon and Sapony West (near present- day Charlotte Court House). 

Meanwhile, the Occaneechees had established themselves on an island 

in the Roanoke River, which served as a nexus of Native trade. Also 

at mid- century another group of Nahyssans as well as Tutelos moved 

briefl y east to the falls of the James River, but they soon migrated far-

ther west, away from the colony. During the 1670s the Nahyssans, Sa-

ponis, and Tutelos moved again, this time to the Roanoke River by Oc-

caneechee Island.12
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Th e Virginia colonists also faced problems of defense in the middle 

half of the seventeenth century, and their solutions took three forms: 

the building of forts, the deployment of Rangers, and the enlistment of 

tributaries. From at least 1614, Virginians had sought to incorporate in-

dividual Native groups as subordinate allies or tributaries.13 All others 

the colonists labeled as “foreign.”14 In the wake of the 1644 Powhatan up-

rising, the Virginia Assembly authorized the construction of a series of 

forts along Virginia’s fall line: Fort Royal on the Pamunkey, Fort James 

on the Chickahominy, Fort Charles on the James, and Fort Henry on 

the Appomattox. When, in 1645, the Powhatans became tributaries, the 

assembly deemed the forts unnecessary and a costly burden, so it grant-

ed the garrisons, and large tracts of surrounding lands, to private own-

ers who agreed to maintain their upkeep and supply a suffi  cient defen-

sive force.15 A further defensive measure was the formation of troops of 

Rangers to patrol the frontiers. Initially, the troops consisted of twenty 

men for each frontier county, “well furnished with horses and all other 

accoutrements,” who would “at the least once in every fourteen daies 

range and scout about the frontiers . . . and in such other places as shall 

be most likely for the discovery of the enemy.”16 Over time, their num-

bers and duties expanded.17

Although defense priorities dictated Virginians’ interaction with Na-

tives, the two groups developed increasingly sophisticated trade rela-

tions. Virginia’s frontier forts, once in private hands, became important 

centers of exchange. Th e individuals who maintained them became the 

largest names in the Indian trade: Abraham Wood at Fort Henry on the 

Appomattox, William Byrd I at Fort Charles on the James, and Cadwall-

eder Jones at the fort on the Rappahannock. Th ey used these sites as 

bases to engage in extensive Indian trade hundreds of miles to the south 

and southwest, exchanging beads, pots and pans, blankets, rum, guns, 

and other goods for beaver, mink, otter, and particularly deerskins.18

Trade goods contributed to the wealth and power of Native commu-

nities, particularly if they were able to control distribution by positioning 

themselves as middlemen. Well- established trade routes connected Indi-

ans throughout the Eastern Woodlands, and piedmont Natives were as 

familiar with trade as their colonial counterparts.19 In jockeying for po-

sition as go- betweens, particular piedmont Indians rose to prominence. 

Until 1675, the Occaneechees controlled trade from their island home on 

the Roanoke, thereby gaining access to the best goods, and becoming a 
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military force in the region.20 Native groups not as advantageously situ-

ated resented their leverage.21 As the seventeenth century drew to a close 

and more traders pushed into the piedmont, the increase in trade goods 

altered Natives’ material culture, making them more dependent on Eu-

ropean goods and even more eager for trade with colonists.22

Events in the 1670s intensifi ed the Siouans’ problems. French offi  cials 

in New France sought to weaken English- allied Indians by encouraging 

Iroquois warriors to attack Natives in England’s southern colonies. Th e 

Susquehannock War, which broke out on the frontiers of Maryland and 

Virginia in 1675, resulted in the Susquehannocks moving north to join 

the Iroquois. With the Susquehannock buff er removed, Iroquois raids 

intensifi ed, particularly as they had Susquehannocks to guide them as 

they moved ever southward.23 Furthermore, Bacon’s Rebellion was as 

much directed against piedmont Indians as the colony’s rulers. In May 

1676, Bacon and his men attacked the Occaneechees, killing men, wom-

en, and children and driving them and other piedmont groups away 

from Virginia. Th e Occaneechees fl ed their island home to settle on the 

Eno River (near present- day Hillsboro, North Carolina).24

Driven from their town on Occaneechee Island in the wake of Ba-

con’s Rebellion, the Occaneechees lost their central role as middlemen, 

but retained their desire for colonial goods. Archeological investigations 

on Occaneechee settlements aft er 1676 demonstrate that they contin-

ued to be heavy consumers of European merchandise in comparison to 

other piedmont Natives. Th oroughly enmeshed in the web of exchange, 

they could not extricate themselves from dependence on the English.25

In the last quarter of the century, mounting pressures from Native en-

emies spurred further movement. Reacting to escalating pressures from 

Native enemies, the Saponis sought one desperate solution aft er anoth-

er. In 1677, their “young King” Mastegonoe and Tachapoake, “Chief man 

of the Sappones,” signed the treaty of Middle Plantation (later Williams-

burg), which made them, along with many other nations, tributaries of 

the colony. In return for a tribute of three arrows annually, they would 

be “well Secured & defended in theire persons goods and properties,” 

with redress to be available through the governor. For this promise of 

protection, tributary Natives were obliged to fi ght against the enemies 

of Virginia, with compensation for their services. However, the ink was 

hardly dry on this document before the Saponis had a change of heart. 

Whether subordinate status and alignment with Iroquoian- speaking 
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enemies who also became tributaries was too galling, raids from Iro-

quois too numerous, or inducements to move southward too attractive, 

the Saponis and Tutelos voted with their feet. Like the Occaneechees be-

fore them, they fl ed south, to the Yadkin River, which at least put more 

distance between them and their Iroquoian enemies (fi g. 1).26

In the last decades of the seventeenth and the beginning of the eigh-

teenth century, Virginia’s Indian trade faced serious competition from 

the south. Bent on securing the lucrative piedmont trade for them-

selves, South Carolinians tried to exclude Virginians from their terri-

tory. During the last quarter of the seventeenth century and into the 

fi rst years of the eighteenth, as many as fi ft y or sixty Virginia traders 

engaged in trading expeditions with foreign Indians each year, leading 

trains of packhorses loaded with English goods.27 Gradually Carolinians 

proved successful competitors, and within decades, Virginia traders 

found themselves almost completely locked out of the long- distance In-

dian trade.28 Th e Virginia trade was also eff ectively unregulated; the col-

ony sold licenses to all applying traders. According to Spotswood, men 

with “no Stock of their own” entered the business. Forced to “purchase 

goods at a dear rate” by their lack of capital, they used “such Frauds in 

their dealings with the Indians” that they occasioned not only “frequent 

quarrels between y’m [Indians] and ye English but at last proved the en-

tire loss of that Commerce.”29 Indeed, over the fi rst fi ft een years of the 

eighteenth century Virginia’s exports fl uctuated greatly and, in the four 

years aft er Spotswood’s arrival, declined markedly— from an annual ex-

port of 22,927 deerskins to 4,952.30

For Siouans, access to trade, particularly in colonial weaponry, was 

important for security. Aft er the introduction of European weapons, 

they quickly became the preferred armaments of Native men. Although 

“Boys still use Bows and Arrows for Exercise,” noted John Lawson in 

1700, men “always use Fire- Arms, which with Ammunition they buy 

of us with their Dear- Skins, going rarely out unarmed.” By the begin-

ning of the eighteenth century, piedmont Natives had suffi  cient access 

to European weaponry that Englishmen were not surprised at meeting 

a Saponi man who traveled about with “a very large Cutlass stuck in 

his Girdle, and a Fusee in his Hand.”31 Reliant on European guns among 

other commodities, piedmont Siouans became dependent on trade with 

colonists.32

Th e presence of forts and the movement of Rangers impinged on the 
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Siouans, but Iroquoian raids sweeping southward— as well as constant 

hostility from nearby Iroquoian- speaking groups such as the Tuscaro-

ras, Nottoways, and Meherrins— represented Siouans most pressing 

problem. Th eir most feared and persistent enemies were the so- called 

Northern Indians, members of the Iroquois Five Nations, who, accord-

ing to Hugh Jones, “[sent] out Bodies of young Fellows yearly, who dare 

not return without a certain Number of Scalps or Prisoners, in order 

to train them up, and qualify them for great and fi ghting Men.”33 Eng-

lish colonists commented on Virginia Indians’ fears of Iroquoian raid-

ers from the earliest days of settlement. Northern Iroquois, increasing-

ly militarized through the Beaver Wars, and dramatic population loss 

from European- introduced epidemics throughout the 1670s spurred 

a “massive mourning- war.” Th e state of politics in Iroquoia turned 

much of this massive war eff ort south into Maryland, Virginia, and the 

Carolinas.34

For a time, moving southward and westward gave the Saponis some 

respite, but aft er the settlement of 1701, in which the Iroquois made 

peace with the French Indians to the north and west, their situation 

worsened. Th e Iroquois directed even more of their raiding eff orts to-

ward their longstanding enemies to the south. Attacking Siouans in the 

Virginia and Carolina piedmont also helped the Iroquois to cement al-

liances with allied groups in Pennsylvania along the Susquehanna and 

Delaware rivers, and those southern nations with whom they were not 

at war, such as the Iroquoian Nottoways, Meherrins, and Tuscaroras of 

Virginia and North Carolina. Nations to the south were also increasing 

their raiding activities throughout this period to meet trade demands 

for Indian slaves in the Carolina and Virginia markets. Th ese move-

ments, spurred by disease, politics, and economics in the north and 

south contributed to Siouan population loss through both raids and the 

spread of disease.35

Th e increasing external threats to Saponis’ and other piedmont peo-

ples’ security aff ected Native relations within the piedmont. In 1701, Sa-

poni hunters captured fi ve “Sinnagers or Jennitos,” northern Iroquoian 

raiders, whom one Saponi man described as “a Sort of People that range 

several thousands of Miles, making all Prey they lay their Hands on.” 

Th e Saponis, returning to their town on the Yadkin River, intended to 

put their prisoners to death, but their allies, the Tutelos, learned of the 

prisoners and came to the Saponi town to intercede. Recently, several 
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Tutelos taken prisoner by the Senecas had been returned without in-

jury, a surprising show of magnanimity the Tutelos wished to repay. Be-

cause the Tutelos, Saponis, and another small nation, the Keyauwees, 

had agreed to combine in order to strengthen themselves against their 

common enemies, the Saponis turned over their prisoners.36 Whether 

Iroquoian raids from the north, slaving raids from the south and west, 

or declining population due to disease encouraged these communities 

to consider new options, the Saponi willingness to compromise and ne-

gotiate the treatment of captives seems to have struck a positive chord. 

Th e Tutelos and Keyauwees joined with the Saponis, and suitably em-

boldened, the three groups headed north. Choosing a location on the 

Roanoke River for their new town, this conglomerated community per-

haps hoped they might fi nd some security, distancing themselves from 

the source of recent raids. It is also possible the Saponis and Tutelos had 

become eager to return to a more familiar geography, closer to their tra-

ditional homeland.

Despite their cohabitation, the Saponis, Tutelos, and Keyauwees con-

tinued to experience attacks. In 1708, while still suff ering raids from 

all directions, the “King of the Saponie,” acting on behalf of his peo-

ple, traveled to Williamsburg to petition the Governor’s Council “that 

the said Indians might be received under the protection of this Gov-

ernment,” an option the Tutelos and Keyauwees were not prepared to 

pursue. Th e council agreed, reinstating the Saponis as tributaries, pre-

sumably under the same articles as agreed to at Middle Plantation over 

thirty years earlier. In return the Saponis asked to settle at “the Forks 

of three Creeks or the land between Unotee and Reeves’s quarter,” on 

the north side of the Meherrin River. Unotee had previously been a Me-

herrin town but was now abandoned. It likely appealed to the Saponis 

because it sat on an open fi eld above the river, like other town locales 

they preferred, as well as the fact it once belonged to one of their en-

emies.37 In addition, the site was already cleared, facilitating the estab-

lishment of a new town. Unfortunately for them, Englishmen had al-

ready patented the land, so the council off ered a site farther north on 

the Nottoway River, promoted as putting greater distance between Vir-

ginia settlers and the Saponis and those Keyauwees and Tutelos who re-

mained among them.38

Th is was the situation of the colony’s Indian aff airs when Alexan-

der Spotswood arrived as governor in 1710. Spotswood was a man well 



native south volume 6 201380

prepared to confront the defense problems of the colony. Born into a 

military family, he became an ensign in 1693 and went with the army 

to Flanders, Ireland, and back to Flanders during the War of Spanish 

Succession before being sent as the lieutenant governor to Virginia for 

the Earl of Orkney.39 On assuming the governorship, Spotswood faced, 

among other things, a struggling Indian trade, warfare on the colony’s 

poorly protected southern border, and— to his chagrin— feeble eff orts 

towards Christianizing the colonies’ Native population.40 He also en-

countered a local assembly loath to impose taxes or spend money and 

several political enemies, both in the Virginia Assembly and on the 

council, throughout his tenure as governor.

Th e Tuscarora War, which erupted just south of Virginia’s border the 

year aft er Spotswood arrived, held widespread ramifi cations for the col-

ony’s relations with its Siouan- speaking peoples.41 Virginia’s leaders sus-

pected the tributary Meherrins and Nottoways of sympathies with, and 

possible defection to, the Tuscaroras. Representing a more trustworthy 

counterweight, the Saponis gained in authority, leading other Siouan- 

speaking groups to subordinate themselves to them.42 Most notably, the 

Occaneechee, Tutelo, and Stuckanox nations, living along the border of 

North Carolina and Virginia and in the fi ring line of Tuscarora raids, 

joined the Saponis, other Tutelos, and Keyauwees.43 Spotswood called 

on men from the tributary nations, including “twenty of the Saponie, 

Occaneechee, and Stuckanox Indians,” as well as a number of Tutelos, 

to repel the Tuscaroras. In return, he rewarded the leaders of each tribu-

tary nation with presents of powder and shot.44 Although the war did 

not spread into Virginia settlements, it deepened colonial reliance on 

tributary Indians.

Th e war also highlighted for colonial offi  cials the importance of 

maintaining control over the Indian trade. When the Tuscarora War 

broke out in 1711 the assembly responded by placing an embargo on 

trade with the Native enemy and resolving, “the Sum of One thousand 

pounds be Raised for the Assistance of North Carolina in its present 

Distress.”45 Th e main goal in cutting off  trade to the Tuscaroras was to 

staunch the fl ow of weapons and munitions. However, it proved diffi  cult 

to police the actions of independent traders. Spotswood sought a better 

way to regulate commerce with Indians in the future.

Spotswood’s attention to Virginia’s tributaries through the war 

worked toward another of his goals: Christianizing the tributary Indi-
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ans. When Spotswood arrived, he tried to inculcate Christianity and ci-

vility by enticing tributary Indians to send their children to the College 

of William and Mary. Although Spotswood was genuinely interested in 

educating Native children, he also considered them useful as securities 

for the good behavior of the tributary nations— hostages as well as stu-

dents. Diplomatically, Spotswood considered 1711 a success. By the start 

of 1712 “Hostages from all the Towns of our Tributary Indians” had ar-

rived at the college, at least eleven from the Pamunkey, Chickahominy, 

Nansemond, Nottoway and Meherrin nations. Th at year marked— at a 

total of twenty- four— the highest enrollment of Native students at the 

college’s Indian school.46

Each of these crisscrossing paths— defensive, commercial, and 

cultural— wound their way towards the establishment of Fort Christan-

na. Particularly in the wake of the Tuscarora War, safety on the south-

ern frontier was Spotswood’s foremost concern. In his opening speech 

to the new assembly of the House of Burgesses in 1713, he expressed a 

desire to tighten frontier security without taxing the colony’s inhabit-

ants.47 He also hoped to make progress in Christianizing Virginia’s Na-

tives and reviving the Indian trade. Fort Christanna was Spotswood’s 

solution to these three issues. It also became the home of the Saponi 

peoples of piedmont Virginia.

On February 27, 1714, Governor Spotswood, Chaw Co of the Occa-

neechees, Tanhee Soka of the Saponis, Mausee Untky of the Tutelos, and 

Nehau Rooss of the Stuckanox convened in Williamsburg to sign a trea-

ty. Designed less to establish peace than to maintain it— since the Oc-

caneechees, Saponis, Tutelos, and Stuckanox were already tributaries— 

the treaty aimed to enact a new plan for sustaining peace and trade in 

the piedmont. Th e plan devised by Spotswood revolved around Fort 

Christanna as a frontier site for defense, reviving colonial- Indian trade 

and establishing a school for Indian children. Spotswood expressed con-

fi dence that this plan would remedy several of the issues he confronted 

when he arrived in the colony, and which had only been highlighted by 

subsequent events.48

Spotswood’s plan most immediately addressed the failure of colo-

nial defenses on the frontier. In 1713, still wary of violence on Virgin-

ia’s southern border, eleven troops of Rangers had been called up to pa-

trol the backcountry. Recruiting, sheltering, feeding, and compensating 
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the Rangers was a costly business, however. More than that, the Rang-

ers were largely ineff ectual— despite their deployment, Natives and col-

onists on the frontier continued to be killed or captured.49 Spotswood 

proposed to the assembly a reduction of the Rangers from 132 men and 

offi  cers to 28. Th e money saved from reducing their ranks— a cost that 

had already been approved by the assembly for the previous two years— 

could instead be used to pay the condensed Rangers force over several 

years. To bolster the reduced Rangers, Spotswood proposed erecting a 

new fort, Christanna, with a constant guard of twelve men under a sin-

gle commanding offi  cer.50 As a further defensive bulwark, Nottoways, 

Tuscaroras, and Saponis would relocate to three frontier settlements, 

thereby providing “a securer and cheaper Barrier” against foreign In-

dians than the Rangers, which he deemed a “slender Guard, design’d 

only to observe straggling Indians in a time of Peace.”51 Spotswood rec-

ognized that not all Tuscaroras had been involved in the late war, and 

sought to convince as many as possible of the neutral groups of Tus-

caroras to become tributaries as part of his plans to reconsolidate and 

renegotiate the status of tributaries in the colony. Although some Tus-

caroras initially agreed, they quickly reneged and did not move.52 Th e 

Nottoways and Meherrins, who did not share the same history of move-

ment as the Saponi peoples, refused to accede to Spotswood’s plan at all, 

which would require them to remove from their current residences. Th e 

only eff ective settlement was the conglomerated Saponi community at 

Christanna.

Spotswood’s plan for Christanna included control of the Indian trade 

through the formation of the Virginia Indian Company. During times 

of war, a monopoly would make it easier to stop all trade of powder and 

ammunition to hostile Indians, a diffi  cult, if not impossible, undertak-

ing if independent traders remained at the helm.53 To convince the as-

sembly, Spotswood argued that a joint- stock company— a monopoly— 

would eliminate what he identifi ed as the main hindrances to Indian 

commerce: those private traders, “loose people,” who defrauded Na-

tives.54 Supporting what he saw as the interests of the colony, Spotswood 

claimed that the company would be open to more colonists as stock-

holders than could ever be involved as traders. Although the ₤50 mini-

mum share kept many colonists from participating in the company, a 

cap of ₤100 aimed to keep any individual or group of individuals from 

taking control of the company.55 Th e Virginia Indian Company would 
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have “sole privilege of the Indian Trade for twenty years,” and all trade 

would be limited to one location, Christanna. Regulating the Indian 

trade by preventing “all Fraudulent practices” would also serve to bring 

more revenue into the colony.56

Other benefi ts would accrue from the monopoly as well, he argued. 

A company could raise more capital than individual traders, and a wid-

er assortment of goods would stimulate more trade with distant Indi-

ans. Reviving trade would also benefi t the new College of William and 

Mary, which received a portion of duties from fur and skin exports. 

Robert Quary previously developed a similar proposal for Carolina, 

which found support with Spotswood’s predecessor, Francis Nicholson, 

although it was never enacted in either Carolina or Virginia. Spotswood 

helped push his version of an Indian monopoly through the assembly 

by emphasizing the Virginia Indian Company’s ability to cut costs.57

In August 1714, Spotswood began supervising the building of “a 

Fortress, with fi ve Bastions” on the south shore of the Meherrin River, 

sixty- fi ve miles from the capital at Williamsburg. By spring, the fort was 

complete. One visitor described it as having fi ve houses, built into the 

fort walls, each side one hundred yards long and boasting fi ve cannon. 

Th e established guard of twelve men and an offi  cer took up their station, 

and three hundred tributary Indians moved to Christanna.58 Th ese Indi-

ans were a combination of Saponis, Tutelos, Occaneechees, and Stucka-

nox aft erwards referred to only as Saponis, having been incorporated 

into one “nation” by the 1714 treaty.59

For Saponis, Christanna promised enhanced access to trade goods, as 

the site sat astride well- established Indian trading paths.60 Located next 

to a major artery in the Tuscarora trade, the Saponis could entertain the 

prospect of becoming the dominant middlemen in southern piedmont 

commerce, since Virginia had suspended trade with the Tuscarora dur-

ing the war.61 Th e Saponis not only had direct access to the Virginia In-

dian Company, but also to all colonial- Indian trade, now centered at the 

fort. Indeed, tributary Indians throughout Virginia and foreign Indians 

beyond the colony’s borders came to trade at Christanna. During John 

Fontaine’s 1716 visit to the fort he described ten Meherrin Indians who 

arrived “laden with beaver, deer and bear skins” for trading.62 Notto-

ways, Tuscaroras, Enos, and Catawbas also traded at Christanna. Settle-

ment at a key nexus of trade was important to the fl ourishing of any 

Native town, and the Saponis were now settled at perhaps the busiest 
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trading post in the colony.63 Additionally, as a benefi t of their coopera-

tion with Spotswood, the company sold them “goods at a Cheaper rate 

than any other foreign Indians.”64

Th eir new situation also served the Saponis’ security needs. Previ-

ously as tributaries, they had suff ered harassment and losses— not just 

from Iroquois raids, but from an ongoing feud with fellow tributaries, 

especially the Nottoways and Meherrins who may have been seeking 

captives among their Siouan neighbors to sell to Carolina or even Vir-

ginia traders as slaves.65 Relocation within cannon range of a fort prom-

ised greater protection from other Virginia tributaries as well as distant 

enemies. Moving their settlement to Fort Christanna also guaranteed 

the Saponis a thirty- six- square- mile grant of land and additional hunt-

ing grounds safeguarded from colonial encroachment.66 During the fi rst 

year the Saponis lived under the shadow of the fort, the colony claimed 

no loss of life to foreign Indians.67

Th e Indian town at Christanna resembled previous Saponi settle-

ments, but on a larger scale. When the Saponis fi rst settled at Christan-

na, Spotswood estimated their population at three hundred and grow-

ing.68 In 1716, Fontaine described the town at Christanna in much the 

same way as Carolina traveler John Lawson recorded the Saponi town, 

Sapon, he visited in 1701. Th e town at Christanna was built on a cleared 

plain beside the river, with houses formed in a circle and built into pal-

isaded walls. Th e center of the town was a common space that had a 

“great stump of a tree” in the middle that was used as a platform “for one 

of their head men to stand on when he had anything of consequence 

to relate to them.” Like Lawson, Fontaine also described “several little 

huts built . . . in the form of an oven” (or hot- house), used by priests to 

remedy “all distempers.”69 Despite living in the shadow of the colonial 

fort, the Saponis chose their town site and laid it out in their customary 

manner. Th ey may have acceded to a new colonial relationship, but they 

also established some boundaries around their autonomy.

When news reached the colony in May 1715 that several nations of In-

dians had attacked the colonists of South Carolina, marking the begin-

ning of the Yamasee War, colonists and Natives alike worried of reper-

cussions in Virginia. On Virginia’s southwestern frontier, both colonists 

and Saponis feared that the Five Nations would support the aggressors 

and embroil the Virginia frontier in violence. Th e same month, the as-

sembly ordered extra defenses (small cannon) placed at Christanna, as 
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well as additional men, who apparently kept the area “freed from all 

danger.”70 Th e Yamasee War did not reach Virginia’s borders. Although 

Saponi hunters were still subject to raids when abroad, no attacks oc-

curred at home.71

Th e prospect of security from attack presumably explains why in 

1716 some Cheraws, then living along the Pee Dee River in South Caro-

lina, petitioned Virginia to incorporate with the Saponis and to move 

to Christanna.72 As another Siouan group, the Cheraws knew the Sa-

ponis well. When the Saponis moved to the Yadkin River in the late 

seventeenth century, they would have regularly encountered the Ch-

eraws, who then lived north of them on the Dan River. Furthermore, 

the Keyauwees, who had merged with the Saponis in 1701, soon left  that 

arrangement to join the Cheraws. Perhaps with Keyauwee encourage-

ment, the Cheraws were now willing to merge with the Saponis as part 

of the “population stream out of the Carolinas” as a result of increased 

warfare and violence.73

Although successful in achieving its defensive and commercial goals, 

Spotswood’s frontier plan struggled to implement its cultural aims. Pri-

or to his term Spotswood believed “little care” had been taken in Vir-

ginia for converting the Indians to Christianity or “endeavouring in 

any manner to Civilize them.” To lessen the burden on colonial fi nanc-

es, Spotswood delegated the cost of building and maintaining an Indian 

school at Christanna to the Indian Company.74 He petitioned the Bishop 

of London and the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel (spg) for 

a minister to be established at Christanna and support for a Christian 

school. When he was not immediately successful, he chose to pay the 

salary for a schoolmaster from his own pocket, perhaps hoping to be re-

imbursed by the spg.75 Th is plan provided a new location for educating 

and Christianizing the Indians without any additional cost to the colony.

As soon as the Saponis moved to Christanna, Spotswood selected 

seventy children, both boys and girls, of an age “most susceptible of 

Learning” to begin attending school under the supervision of school-

master Charles Griffi  n.76 Th e schoolhouse, built by the Indian Compa-

ny, was, according to the company’s stockholders, “perhaps the noblest 

in America.”77 Although there are no accounts from the students, visi-

tors to the school claimed that Griffi  n earned the respect of his tute-

lages.78 Within months he boasted to the Bishop of London that most of 

his charges were fast learners and already could say “the Lord’s prayer, & 
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ten Commandments perfectly well, they know that there is but one God 

& they are able to tell me how many persons there are in the Godhead & 

what each of those blessed persons have done for them.” Th ey also knew 

the sacraments and daily prayers, during which, Griffi  n asserted, they 

conducted themselves “reverently.” Some Indians, the schoolmaster 

claimed, knew how to read and write English. Visitors to Christanna en-

thusiastically endorsed the progress of the Indian students.79 Some were 

less impressed. Years later William Byrd II caustically remarked that the 

only eff ect of Griffi  n’s teaching on the Saponis was “to make them some-

thing cleanlier than other Indians are.”80

Th e Saponis however, had no desire to abandon their Native ways. 

Couching his request deferentially, one Native “asked Leave to be ex-

cused from becoming as we [English people] are,” but then defi antly 

spoke for all Saponis by declaring “they thought it bad, that we should 

desire them to change their Manners and Customs, since they did not 

desire us [colonists] to turn Indians.”81 To entice the Indians to send 

their children to the school, Spotswood proposed that any Indians edu-

cated at the school (or at the College of William and Mary) would have 

the privilege to hold positions of “trust or profi t” in the company, posts 

otherwise prohibited to Indians by colonial law. Only practical induce-

ments geared toward Saponi desires, he recognized, would be likely to 

overcome Indian resistance.82

Although some Saponis became increasingly profi cient in English, 

their community leaders established bulwarks against forced accultura-

tion. Fontaine noted that whenever the great men participated in any 

diplomacy “they will not treat but in their own language.” Unless the 

governor used an interpreter, the Saponis would not even acknowledge 

his questions.83 Th ey also educated their children outside of Griffi  n’s 

schoolhouse. Young boys continued to learn the skills for making and 

using bows and arrows. Beyond the walls of the school, the same boys 

who had been taught to recite the Lord’s Prayer also learned the music 

and, in Fontaine’s words, the “antic motions” of their war dances, their 

steps answering in time to the music and “by their actions . . . represent-

ing how they attacked their enemies . . . how many of the other Indians 

they had killed, and how they did it.”84

Th e presence of the school shaped the way Virginians perceived the 

Saponis. Its success, in colonial eyes, refl ected positively on the Indians 

who supported and attended it, and the Saponis gained a reputation in 
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the colony, according to Jones, for their “tolerable good Notions of natu-

ral Justice, Equity, Honour and Honesty.” Even Byrd, who disparaged the 

eff ects of Griffi  n’s teaching, nevertheless sought out Saponi hunters, when 

he later put together his surveying party, because they were “the honest-

est as well as the bravest Indians we have ever been acquainted with.”85

Just before sunrise on April 10, 1717, a party of Five Nations Iroquois and 

Tuscaroras surveyed the camp of about one hundred Catawbas sleep-

ing just outside the walls of Fort Christanna in Virginia. At daybreak 

they attacked, killing fi ve Catawbas in their sleep, wounding two others, 

and absconding with fi ve more as prisoners. Within minutes the attack 

was over. Shocked and unarmed, the Catawbas could not even pursue 

their attackers. Th e Catawba delegation had traveled hundreds of miles 

to Fort Christanna to deliver eleven children of their nation to be ed-

ucated there as a sign of friendship with the colony. According to the 

rules of the fort, they had left  their arms inside with the colonists, and 

aft er a successful meeting between their headman, Wickmannatauch-

ee, and Virginia’s governor, Alexander Spotswood, they fell asleep un-

der the cannon of the fort. Wickmannatauchee was taken prisoner and 

their “queen” murdered in the assault. Expecting protection from the 

Virginians during their parley, the anguished Catawbas suspected that 

“the English must have been privy to [the attack].” Only with “abun-

dance of diffi  culty, and not without running some hazard in my person” 

did Governor Spotswood “at last overcame this their Suspition, and per-

swaded them to leave their Children” under his care to be educated at 

the school at Christanna.86

Th e Iroquois’ attack on the Catawbas outside Fort Christanna in 1717 

seriously undermined both the safety and longevity of the settlement. 

Despite his defensive strategy, Spotswood admitted that “those North-

ern Indians have committed divers hostilities on our frontiers,” not only 

against the Indians but also settlers in the backcountry.87 Aft er the at-

tack, Spotswood, determined to mend the rupture, contacted New York 

authorities to demand a release of the prisoners and requested com-

pensation for the murdered Catawbas. He insisted that diplomats from 

the Five Nations come to Virginia, but the Iroquois did not comply. 

Spotswood then traveled to Philadelphia to meet with the colonial gov-

ernors of New York, Pennsylvania, and Maryland to fi nd a way to “ren-

der the [Iroquois] Indians more Obsequious to the several interests” of 
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the colonies. In 1718 Spotswood related to the Lords of Trade that in his 

“Negotiations to the Northward” he was unable to accomplish what he 

intended; the approaching winter prevented him from meeting any of 

the Iroquois sachems. All he was able to do was send a messenger to in-

tercept a party of Iroquois headed south— allegedly to attack the south-

ern Indians— and obtain a promise that the party would “Abstain from 

any hostilities on the English Governments.”88 Spotswood exerted much 

eff ort to negotiate peace with the Iroquois, but peace between the Sa-

ponis and Iroquois remained elusive for years to come.

Th e Catawba incident proved to be a breaking point for the commu-

nity in other regards as well. Spotswood and members of the Council 

suspected that illegal traders, including the interpreters for the Saponis, 

William and Charles Kimball, were involved in the attack on the Cataw-

bas. Spotswood claimed to have “certain Information that while the Sen-

equas were at the Tuscoruro Town divers Inhabitants of this [colony] . . . 

were there trading with the Tuscoruros contrary to Law,” giving him 

“great Reason to Suspect” that the traders had told the Senecas about the 

practice of having visiting Indians deliver up their arms when attend-

ing Fort Christanna. Without this knowledge, Spotswood claimed, the 

“Party of Senequas durst not have attempted to fall upon them as they 

did.” Th ese private traders, not members of the Virginia Indian Compa-

ny, were probably among those who encouraged merchants in England 

to have the Act for the Better Regulation of the Indian Trade repealed. 

Anonymous traders’ complaints fi rst made their way to the Council in 

Virginia just days before the attack at Christanna.89 Spotswood’s political 

enemies believed that the monopoly company was a scheme designed 

primarily for the governor’s personal enrichment. In addition to oppos-

ing the Company through the Virginia Council, these opponents, in-

cluding William Byrd II, took their complaints to England.

In 1716 Micajah Perry, a wealthy London merchant and foremost 

trader to Virginia, presented a petition to the Commissioners of Trade 

and Plantations against the Virginia Indian Company.90 Th e petition, 

signed by thirteen “Virginia Merchants,” voiced a series of complaints 

against the company. Th e period allotted for stockholders to subscribe 

to the company was so short that it eff ectively denied the right to inter-

ested English merchants. Since the company designated Robert Cary as 

its sole factor, it excluded many English merchants.91 Th e monopolistic 

nature of the company ran counter to the rights of British subjects to 
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have free access to trade anywhere in Britain’s dominions, and had no 

precedent in British law. Furthermore, the petition complained that pre-

vious Virginia Indian traders, particularly large traders such as William 

Byrd II who had signed the petition, had been blocked from subscrib-

ing. Only friends of the governor needed apply.92

Robert Cary disputed Perry’s assertions. He claimed that the fail-

ure of subscriptions owed less to time constraints than to a fear that the 

company’s many obligations would hamper its profi tability. So reluctant 

were people to subscribe that the governor had even drummed up sup-

port aft er the period of subscriptions had closed. Cary emphasized the 

advantages of the Indian Company for the colony: providing for the co-

lonial magazine, building the Indian school at Christanna, and assum-

ing the expenses of defense on the frontier.93 Despite Cary’s claims, the 

Privy Council voided the act, although it did reimburse the company 

for costs incurred for the public benefi t.94

Th e dissolution of the company met with a varied response in Vir-

ginia, refl ecting the new contours of colonial politics. Predictably, 

Spotswood was displeased.95 But the new assembly, elected in 1718 large-

ly over the issue of how to handle Christanna, saw matters diff erent-

ly. In a campaign document, an anonymous author implored voters not 

to elect “an assembly intirely in the Governor’s and Indian Company’s 

Interest” who sought only to make the inhabitants pay to maintain the 

“useless” Fort Christanna while the Company still benefi ted from the 

trade.96 Th e opposition to Spotswood won the election and voted to 

abandon Christanna rather than assume the expenses that had previ-

ously been covered by the Virginia Indian Company. Spotswood feared 

that the extension of the Indian trade to the Catawbas, Cherokees, and 

other “Western Indians” under the company would be lost by “recur-

ring to what loose way of managing that Commerce w’ch that Law was 

calculated to prevent,” and that commerce with the Saponis and other 

local Indians would diminish.97 Initially at least, Spotswood was right, 

as in the year aft er the repeal of the act, only one trader ventured forth 

to vend his goods to “any of the remote Indians.”98

Without the company to fund the fort and garrison, Spotswood’s 

plans for Christanna fell apart.99 Th e Virginia Assembly claimed “the 

Charge of keeping up fort Christanna purely for the Security of those 

few people [the Saponis] is no way necessary or reasonable.” Given 

their increasingly precarious situation, the Saponis likely would have 
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disagreed with the assembly. Events in 1718, aft er the dissolution of the 

fort, confi rmed their dramatically weakened state, beginning with the 

murder of several Saponis by Meherrins and Nottoways. Th at summer, 

Pennsylvania’s governor informed Spotswood that the Senecas planned 

incursions against the tributary Indians at Christanna. Unable to de-

fend them, Spotswood simply passed the news on to the Saponis. Mak-

ing matters worse, the Saponis learned that Nathaniel Malone, a colo-

nist of nearby Surry County, held one of their women as a slave; but 

before they could secure her release, she died. With the colonial aban-

donment of Fort Christanna, the feud between the Saponis and the Not-

toways reached new heights. Th e Nottoways allowed the Tuscaroras and 

northern Iroquois to use their town as a launching place for raids on 

the Saponis. By the end of the year, the Saponis moved from their town 

beside Christanna into the abandoned fort for better protection against 

Iroquois attacks.100 Even within the fort however, the Saponis were hard-

ly safe. Th e following year, the Nottoways confessed to a joint attack 

against the Saponis involving eight Nottoways and twelve Meherrins in 

addition to Senecas and Tuscaroras.101 Th e Saponis sought the protec-

tion guaranteed by their treaty, but no help was forthcoming.

Abandoning Christanna left  not only the Saponis, but also the whole 

southern frontier of Virginia, undefended. Uninhibited by any defensive 

measures, “the Northern Indians and Tuscaruros” intensifi ed their raids 

on a range of parties.102 Frontier settlers, who suff ered as much as the Sa-

ponis from the renewed violence, sought government help. For the fi rst 

time since the establishment of Christanna, frontier inhabitants in 1718 

petitioned the assembly, “praying that Guards may be established to de-

fend them from the Indians.”103 Th ey repeated their plea the following 

year. Even inhabitants not in the vicinity of Christanna expressed the 

“great and eminent Danger they apprehended themselves exposed to by 

the frequent marches of the Northern Indians through their Plantations, 

their Insolent behaviour towards the said Inhabitants and threatening to 

come in greater Numbers to Fall upon the English of this Colony” in 

their attempts to “cutt off  and destroy the Sappone Indians.” Leaving the 

frontier unprotected, it seems, challenged “foreign” Indians to “Try the 

Strength” of the Saponi fort.104 And, without a functioning frontier fort, 

settlers saw Rangers as the best method for security.

From the perspective of the Saponis, the benefi ts of their relationship 

with the Virginia government terminated along with the fort. With-
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out the Virginia Indian Company, Christanna was no longer the only, 

or central, location for colonial- Indian trade. Th e Saponis were also no 

longer privy to special rates on trade goods. Children lost the chance of 

an education leading to a position as trader or interpreter. Nevertheless 

occasional exchanges still took place at Christanna. In 1723, Cherokees 

and Chickasaws traveled to Virginia to complain about the withdrawal 

of the Virginia Indian Company traders from their towns. Th e council 

referred the delegates to Christanna to be granted “One Trading Gun, 

or Fuzil, and as much powder and Shott as they shall have occasion for 

in their Journey home.” Christanna retained at least some of its com-

mercial infl uence, though it was decidedly on the wane.105

Discontinuing the school at Christanna aff ected more than the Sa-

ponis. Enrollment had risen from seventy Saponis at its inception to 

over one hundred before the school was terminated. Eleven of the new 

students were the Catawba hostages, delivered just months before the 

founding act was repealed. Others were children of western nations, 

also held as hostages for the good behavior of their kin. Unwilling to 

spend money on their maintenance, the colony voted to return them, 

despite the risk of upsetting their respective nations through undiplo-

matically terminating their arrangements.106 In 1718 Virginia returned 

the Catawba children to their nation “in Such a manner as will best pre-

serve a good Understanding of those Indians.”107

With Saponi and Virginian interests no longer aligned, both parties 

sought new ways to fulfi ll their security needs. Governor Spotswood re-

vived eff orts to establish a peace between the tributaries of Virginia and 

the northern Iroquois. He was concerned about protecting the Saponis 

out of fear that the “breach of faith” by the colony “may be attended with 

ill consequences and from the Strictest Friends may make those [Sa-

poni] Indians our most dangerous Enemys.”108 But, like his predecessors, 

his priority was halting Iroquois raids along the southern and western 

frontiers. To that end he helped to negotiate the Albany Treaty of 1722, 

which established a boundary along “the great River of Potowmak and 

the High Ridge of Mountains which extend all along the Frontiers of 

Virginia” ostensibly keeping the Iroquois out of Virginia and Virginia’s 

tributaries from going beyond those boundaries towards the Iroquois.109 

Th e following year, the Saponis tried to make peace with some of their 

enemies by signing a treaty with the Tuscaroras of North Carolina. At 

the Saponis’ request, Nathanial Harrison, a former member of the Vir-
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ginia Indian Company and member of the governor’s council, traveled 

to Christanna “to take care that nothing is concluded there Prejudicial 

to the peace and Interest of this Colony,” and that the Saponis “may not 

be drawn into any Stipulations injurious to themselves.”110

Neither eff ort arrested the violence on the frontier. In 1727, a party 

of Tuscaroras attacked a Saponi hunting party, killing or taking pris-

oner seven men.111 Th e Tuscaroras of North Carolina, who had recently 

signed a peace treaty with the Saponis, claimed that the murders had 

been committed by their brethren “now living under the protection 

of the fi ve nations.” Trouble brewed between Saponis and colonists as 

well. Th at same year, at a horserace in Hanover County, colonist John 

Prowse set a sleeping Saponi man on fi re. Prowse was never tried for 

his off ense.112 In 1728 the Saponis complained to Virginia’s offi  cials that 

the Nottoways had murdered the son of the “Tottero [Tutelo] King”; 

the Nottoways countered that the Saponis had murdered two of their 

men.113 Th e accusations led to the committing of three Saponi men, Tom 

and Harry Irwin, and Pyror, to the public jail in Williamsburg. Upset 

with the outcome, the “Tottero King,” now subject to English law and 

not permitted to handle matters his own way, threatened the governor 

and several other colonists, which in turn led to his own imprisonment. 

Humiliation was heaped on humiliation.114

Th e last straw came in 1728, when a drunken Saponi headman mur-

dered a white man. Virginians executed the culprit, violating Native law 

in two ways: Indians opposed both hanging and punishing a person un-

der the infl uence of alcohol. Byrd pointed to this incident as the rea-

son the Saponis “soon aft er quitted their settlement and removed in a 

body to the Catawbas.”115 Th e Saponis undoubtedly held other grievanc-

es, not least the broken promises that had led them to settle at Christan-

na in the fi rst place. Furthermore, continued raids and murders by Me-

herrins, Nottoways, Tuscaroras, and northern Iroquois proved Saponi 

vulnerability to attack. In the spring of 1729 the new governor, William 

Gooch, reported that the Saponis had not planted any corn, “whereby it 

is expected they intend to desert their present settlement.”116

In 1729 the Saponis at last vacated Christanna, their home for four-

teen years, relocating to the Catawba Nation in South Carolina (fi g. 

2). During the early decades of the eighteenth century the Catawbas 

had established themselves as the primary powerbrokers of the Caro-

lina piedmont. Th ey had absorbed a number of small Siouan groups, 



Fig. 2. Movements of the Saponi people, 1715– 1780.
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in much the same way as the Saponis had incorporated other Siouans 

into their polity.117 But not all attempts at incorporation proved success-

ful, and the Saponis were soon on the move again. Within three years of 

leaving Virginia, the Saponis petitioned to return “under the protection” 

of the colony’s government.118 Virginia’s governor and council welcomed 

them back and promised them “any Lands they shall chuse . . . either on 

the River Roanoke or Appamatox,” where a tract of land would be set 

out for them “equal to that they formerly held at Christanna.”119

By 1732, however, Virginia’s Indian policies had changed radically. 

Virginia’s leaders were interested neither in cooperating with the Sa-

ponis to defend the frontiers, nor in using colonial monies to protect a 

tributary nation. Th e numbers of tributary Indians throughout the col-

ony had decreased, and traders hoping to profi t from the Indian trade 

focused their eff orts on the Cherokees and other western nations, leav-

ing local tributaries to fend for themselves. Diplomacy ignored the lo-

cal tributaries, directed now towards distant, “foreign” groups.120 Th e 

Saponis’ needs for trade and defense no longer matched those of the col-

ony; a joint venture like Christanna was no longer feasible in Virginia.

In a sign of Saponi desperation, even as they continued to suff er at 

the hands of Iroquois and local Iroquois- speaking groups, a majority 

decided in 1740 to do the unthinkable and join their longstanding en-

emy.121 Aft er all, the Iroquois, although fi erce adversaries to outsiders, 

sought to eliminate internal warfare among themselves. Th eir elastic 

conception of nationhood allowed them to adopt individuals or peo-

ples through consanguinity and affi  nity, thereby enveloping disparate 

bands, tribes, or nations into a larger Pax Iroquoia.122 Furthermore, the 

Saponis had seen their Tuscarora neighbors incorporate with the Iro-

quois, and then return south on raids with their new brethren. Join, not 

fl ee, seemed the obvious lesson.123 Th us the Saponis began a long trek 

northward, living for a time in Pennsylvania, where the Iroquois for-

mally adopted about one hundred Saponi people in 1753.124 For the next 

two decades the Saponis remained in Pennsylvania, although by 1778 

they had moved into New York.125

For some Saponis, joining the Iroquois was a step too far. One group 

turned instead to their old patron, Alexander Spotswood, who had re-

mained in Virginia aft er his term as governor. In the 1740s, a number of 

Saponis lived on his property at Germanna. Memories of their time at 

Christanna were apparently still alive, particularly evident in the name 
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of one Saponi man, named for his former teacher, Charles Griffi  n.126 By 

the 1750s another band lived in present- day Granville County, North 

Carolina, by the headwaters of the Tar River.127 Perhaps others joined 

the Tuscaroras still living in North Carolina. Groups of Tuscaroras 

from North Carolina, perhaps including remnants of the Saponis, con-

tinued to migrate northward toward the Iroquois throughout the end 

of the century.128

Fort Christanna has generally received only passing notice, and is con-

sidered too fl eeting to merit much attention. Yet to pass over it is to 

leave a whole side of Virginians’ interactions, policies, and preoccupa-

tions unexamined. Th e fort represented a transitional moment when 

the interests of the colonial government and piedmont Natives con-

verged. Defensive and commercial exigencies provided an opening for 

cultural exchange. Th is period of intercultural cooperation suggests 

that colonial- Native interrelationships were most advantageous when 

the interests of both parties were aligned. Although the community at 

Christanna thrived for only four years, it maintained a tenuous exis-

tence for another decade.

Focusing on the combination of peoples and interests that allowed 

a place like Christanna to fl ourish— if briefl y— suggests why piedmont 

Natives, like the Saponis, Tutelos, Stuckanox, Keyauwees, Occaneechees, 

and others have played so little a role in the historiography of Virginia. 

Sources, of course, can be very diffi  cult to track down for small groups, 

especially as the various mergers, divisions, and movements can make 

extant sources diffi  cult to decipher. But movement has had other rami-

fi cations as well. Individual piedmont groups or towns were small, thus 

colonial dealings with each town were more limited than dealings with 

large nations or confederacies made up of many towns. Frequent migra-

tions interrupted sustained relationships, particularly as groups, like the 

Saponis, crossed and recrossed colonial borders. Th roughout the fi ft y 

years addressed in this article the Saponis, and related groups, lived in 

or passed through six diff erent colonies. Colonial histories, which focus 

on individual colonies, have easily skipped over these small groups that 

fl it on and off  their colony’s radar. Nevertheless, as the Saponis exem-

plify, longstanding relations did exist between individual colonies and 

piedmont groups. For periods of time, piedmont Natives and colonists 

were obliged to turn to each other to solve mutual problems. Th e height 
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of piedmont Natives’ importance to colonies like Virginia was directly 

related to the westward spread of colonial settlers, and deserves a place 

between the heyday of Virginia- Powhatan interactions in the fi rst half- 

century of settlement, and the dominance of foreign western nations in 

the latter part of the eighteenth century.

Th e history of Fort Christanna at its core refl ects the diverse merg-

ers and migrations undertaken by piedmont Siouans as they grappled 

with the various shocks attendant on European colonization; capital-

ist trade systems, disease, militarized Indian societies, and colonial en-

croachment. Fort Christanna represents a pivot point in the larger tra-

jectory of Virginia’s Siouan- speaking piedmont peoples— a group of 

Native Americans about which, lamentably, too little is known— as they 

sought safety, trade, and a place to practice their customs. For a time, 

the Saponis found a haven in an insecure world. Christanna was never 

a wholly ideal refuge, but in the decades surrounding the turn of the 

eighteenth century, Saponis and Virginians relied on each other to sat-

isfy common needs. Th is same period saw a rise in chattel slavery, the 

growth of Virginia’s colonial population, and the spread of tobacco ag-

riculture, forcing Virginians to turn to the west. Th ere, colonists con-

fronted the disparate peoples of the Native piedmont, with whom, for a 

time, they cooperated to achieve related goals.

Th is article contributes to the literature on Southern Indians and 

the Mississippian Shatter Zone by identifying the various forces at 

work in the mergers and migrations of the Siouan nations who inhab-

ited, primarily, the Virginia piedmont from 1670 to 1740. In particular, 

it focuses on the reorganizations that surrounded a unique moment of 

Native- colonial cooperation and cohabitation at the community of Fort 

Christanna. Th e development and demise of Fort Christanna enriches 

our understanding of the diverse reactions to the disruptions attendant 

to the Mississippian Shatter Zone by shift ing the focus geographically 

beyond the Mississippian world, while also following the reorganiza-

tions, movements, and mergers of the Saponis, Tutelos, Stuckanox, and 

Occaneechees aft er the chronological heyday of the militaristic Indian 

slaving societies. Finally, the community of Fort Christanna highlights 

the distinct features of interrelationships between Siouans and Virginia 

colonists. Unlike the Carolinas or the northern mid- Atlantic colonies 

in which the colonists and colonial governments established key rela-

tionships with the militaristic Indian slaving societies revolving around 
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trade in slaves, furs, and skins, by the early eighteenth century, Virgin-

ians and Siouans both lacked functional trade or diplomatic relations 

with the slaving societies beyond, but penetrating, their borders.

Th e eventual fate of most Saponis mirrored the experiences of other 

Indian nations reeling from disease, military attacks, and deteriorating 

colonial relations. Th roughout the late seventeenth and eighteenth cen-

turies, Native groups, driven to near despair, made the reluctant move to-

ward Iroquoia. Defeated by Maryland in 1675, the Susquehannocks joined 

the Five Nations. Shawnees, former enemies of the Iroquois, who also mi-

grated to Iroquoia, followed them.129 Aft er the Tuscarora War, many Tus-

caroras, their options exhausted in North Carolina, moved northward, 

eventually becoming the sixth nation of the Iroquois. By the time the Sa-

ponis began their trek north in the 1740s they joined a larger trend, as 

small and fragmented nations followed the well- worn trails to Iroquoia.
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